# Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

11-14-2013

### Brown v. Greenheart Appellant's Brief Dckt. 41189

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### (i) Nature of the Case:

This case arises out of a dispute of whether a deed for conveyance of land also transferred a portion of an appurtenant ground water right. Respondents Jay and Christine Brown (the "Browns") brought a declaratory and quiet title action against Appellant Augusta Greenheart ("Greenheart") arguing that a portion of an adjudicated ground water right was not sold nor transferred with the sale of 60 acres of land that Greenheart had purchased from the Browns.

#### (ii) Facts:

On or about February 5, 1988 the Jay Brown acquired approximately 320 acres of land situated in the East ½ of Section 24, T4S, R5E, B.M., in Elmore County ("Original Brown Property") by way of a Quitclaim Deed. [R. Vol. III, p. 538]. The Snake River Basin Adjudication ("SRBA") Court in Twin Falls, Idaho, decreed Water Rights Nos. 61-2188 and 61-7151 (See. Plaintiff's Exhibit Nos. 2 and 3 in Exhibits to Clerk's Record; also found in [R. Vol. I, pp. 25-28]) to Brown on October 26, 2000, authorizing the use of groundwater to the 320 acres comprising the Original Brown Property. Id. Water Right No. 61-2188 was decreed authorizing the irrigation of up to 164 acres of land within a permissible place of use that encompassed the 320 acres comprising the Original Brown Property. [R. Vol. III, p. 538]. Water Right No. 61-7151 was decreed authorizing the irrigation of up to 123 acres of land within a permissible place of use that encompassed the 320 acres comprising the Original Brown Property. [R. Vol. III, p. 538].

In December of 2006, the Browns listed for sale 60 acres of their Original Brown Property with an asking price of \$80,000, the property was listed with real estate agent Daryl Rhead. [R. Vol. III, p. 539]. In 2006, Greenheart spoke with agent Daryl Rhead about her interest APPELLANT'S BRIEF - 1

to purchase property in the Mountain Home, and that she wanted vacant land with low taxes and low maintenance. [R. Vol. III, p. 540]. All communications between the Browns as the seller and Ms. Greenheart as the buyer were conducted through the agent Darryl Rhead. *Id.* Mr. Rhead was both the listing and selling agent for the 60 acres that contained the adjudicated ground water rights at issue in this case, however Mr. Rhead did not testify at trial. [R. Vol. III, p. 540-41].

On January 29, 2007, Defendant Greenheart and Jay Brown entered into a written contract to purchase approximately sixty (60) acres of the Original Brown Property (the "Greenheart Property") from the Browns, leaving the Browns with approximately 260 acres (the "Current Brown Property"). [R. Vol. III, p. 545-546]. The two written documents comprising the contract between the parties include a RE-24 Vacant Land Real Estate Purchase and Sale Agreement and an RE-13 Counteroffer (collectively "Purchase and Sale Agreement"). *See.* Plaintiff's Exhibit No. 6 in Exhibits to Clerk's Record; also found in [R. Vol. I, pp. 114-120].

Paragraph 16 of the Purchase and Sale Agreement reads:

16. WATER RIGHTS: Description of water rights, water systems, wells springs, water, ditches, ditch rights, etc. if any, that are appurtenant thereto that are now on or used in connection with the premises and shall be included in the sale unless otherwise provided herein: [blank]

[R. Vol. III, p. 543]. Jay and Christine Brown reviewed the Purchase and Sale Agreement before entering into the agreement. [R. Vol. III, p. 543]. Greenheart believed that when she signed the Purchase and Sale Agreement that she expected to receive everything that came with the land. [March 5-6, 2013 Trial Transcript; Tr. p. 242, Il. 5-9].

Jay and Christine Brown executed a Warranty Deed (*See.* Plaintiff's Exhibit 8 in Clerk's Exhibits on Appeal; also found in [R. Vol. I, p. 29 and p. 121]) dated January 29, 2007 transferring the Greenheart Property to Ms. Greenheart. [R. Vol. III, p. 546]. The Warranty APPELLANT'S BRIEF - 2

Deed was recorded in the real property records of Elmore County on January 30, 2007 as Instrument # 384017. *Id.* The language in the Warranty Deed makes no mention of reserving the adjudicated ground water rights and recites that the premises are conveyed "with their appurtenances unto said Grantee and to the Grantee's heirs and assigns forever." *Id.* 

The Warranty Deed was prepared by the title company, First American Title. [R. Vol. III, p. 546]. Jay and Christine Brown had a full opportunity to read the language of the Warranty Deed and in fact reviewed the Warranty Deed before signing it. [R. Vol. III, p. 546].

#### (iii) Course of Proceedings:

On April 5, 2012, Plaintiffs Jay and Christine Brown filed their Complaint to quiet title on adjudicated groundwater rights. [R. Vol. I, p. 11]. The Complaint only asked for a declaration that the terms of the Purchase and Sale Agreement and the Warranty Deed did not transfer water with the sale of the Greenheart Property and that Greenheart should be estopped from asserting that a portion of the groundwater rights were transferred to the Greenheart Property. [R. Vol. I, pp. 17-18]. On May 9, 2012, Greenheart filed her Answer. [R. Vol. I, p. 63].

On November 15, 2012, Greenheart filed her *Motion for Summary Judgment*, with supporting affidavits and memorandum, arguing that the statute of limitations on the Browns' claim had run and the Browns could not rely on equitable principles as a defense to Greenheart's statute of limitations claims. [R. Vol. I, pp. 97-121]. The Browns filed a *Cross-Motion for Summary Judgment* on December 10, 2012, arguing that the adjudicated ground water rights were never appurtenant to the Greenheart property both parties knew that that the groundwater rights not part of the sale. [R. Vol. I, pp. 122-140]. On December 21, 2012, Greenheart filed her *Motion to Strike Portions of Jay Brown's and Terri LaRae Manduca's Affidavits*, to preclude

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The affidavits of Jay Brown and Terri LaRae Manduca attached to *Plaintiff's Memorandum in Support of Summary Judgment*, all pointed to extrinsic evidence in an attempt to show that the adjudicated ground water rights were not conveyed with the sale of the Greenheart property. [R. Vol. I, pp. 142-166].

extrinsic evidence from being introduced in order to interpret the unambiguous Warranty Deed because fraud or mistake was never pled, let alone pled with particularity as the Idaho Rules of Civil Procedure require. [R. Vol. II, pp. 322-329]. On that same day Greenheart filed a *Response to Plaintiffs' Motion for Summary Judgment*, which argued once again that the court should not consider extrinsic evidence to explain the unambiguous Warranty Deed because the Browns' Complaint did not allege fraud or mistake and was not pled with particularity pursuant to I.R.C.P. 9(b). [R. Vol. II, pp. 286-296].

On December 24, 2012, the Browns filed their *Memorandum in Opposition to Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment* which only included the arguments that both parties were aware that the adjudicated ground water rights were not included in the sale of the Greenheart property, the statute of limitations had not run, and equitable estoppel was applicable to this case. [R. Vol. II, pp. 330-342].<sup>2</sup>

On December 28, 2012, Greenheart filed her *Reply in Support of Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment* which articulated that the adjudicated groundwater rights were transferred through the appurtenance clause contained in Warranty Deed, the Plaintiffs applied the wrong adverse possession statute of limitations, and that the four-year statute of limitation began to accrue on the date the Warranty Deed was signed. [R. Vol. II, pp. 343-348].

On December 31, 2012, Browns filed their Reply in Support of Plaintiffs' Motion for Summary Judgment and Response in Opposition to Defendant's Motion to Strike Portions of Affidavits of Jay B. Brown and Terri LaRea Manduca. [R. Vol. II, p. 349]. The Reply and Motion argued that the adjudicated water rights were not appurtenant to the Greenheart Property and the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The Plaintiffs in their *Memorandum in Opposition to Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment* never mentioned any type of mistake had occurred, mutual or unilateral.

Purchase and Sale Agreement's terms confirm that no water rights would be included in the sale. [R. Vol. II, pp. 349-362].

A hearing on the cross-motions for summary judgment was held on January 7, 2013. The district court entered its *Order on Cross Motions for Summary Judgment* on January 31, 2013. [R. Vol. II, p. 366]. In that order the district court denied Greenheart's motion to strike and denied both parties' cross motions for summary judgment finding that material issues of fact existed as to whether "there was a mutual mistake in the deed and whether the court may consider extrinsic evidence for that purpose." *See Order On Cross Motions For Summary Judgment* p. 10; [R. Vol. II, 375]. As such, the matter proceeded to trial set for March 5, 2013.

Greenheart filed a *Motion for Reconsideration* and supporting memorandum on February 15, 2013. [R. Vol. II, p. 385 and p. 386]. Additionally, on February 15, 2013, Greenheart filed a *Motion in Limine to Preclude Allegations of Mistake*. [R. Vol. II, p. 398]. Both motions filed by Greenheart raised the issues that the Browns' Complaint did not plead mistake, in the alternative did not plead mistake with particularity and that the Browns should be precluded from asserting a claim of 'mistake' and or precluded from introducing extrinsic evidence to vary the language of the Warranty Deed.

On February 21, 2013, Browns filed a Response in Opposition to Defendant's Motion in Limine and Motion for Reconsideration [R. Vol. II, 425] and a Motion to Amend [R. Vol. II, p. 408] seeking to amend their Complaint to add a claim for mutual mistake under Count I. See. [R. Vol. III, p. 417]. In response to Greenheart's arguments on reconsideration the Browns argued that the parties presented evidence<sup>3</sup> on the cross motions for summary judgment that allowed the court to delve into the issue of mistake because, according to the Browns, the parties had tried that issue by implication. [R. Vol. III, pp. 429-435].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The very extrinsic evidence that the Browns submitted via the affidavits that Greenheart objected to.

The district court took up the parties' motion on February 22, 2013 during the court's regularly scheduled pre-trial conference. After oral argument of the parties the district court denied Greenheart's motion for reconsideration and concluded that the Browns' Complaint pled mistake. The district court held:

As to whether it relates to whether mistake was plead, while I did not use that heading, this is a notice pleading state. To that extent, I think the party certainly was on notice of what they were claiming in their claims, so I do find that it has been plead with enough particularity in this particular case in the declaratory judgment state to put the parties on notice that mistake is an issue.

See. [Transcript of February 22, 2013; Tr. p. 55, ll. 15-22]. On the Browns' motion to amend their Complaint, the district court held:

As it relates to the motion to amend answer--or excuse me motion to amend the complaint, the only reason for the motion to amend at this point--and quite frankly, the motion was filed yesterday, so I haven't seen the proposed amendment, but if all you're doing is putting the heading "mistake" on it, you don't need to do that for the court's purpose. This is not a jury trial. This is a court trial. The court has certainly read the pleading and is able to derive what has been pled.

To the extent you would be reframing those to allege new claims, it is untimely, and it would prejudice the other side, so to that extent, the motion to amend is denied. To the extent that parties can amend a pleading any time up until they've closed their case in chief, you can revisit that if you need, based on the evidence that's presented.

See. [Transcript of February 22, 2013; Tr. p. 56, l. 20 thru p. 57, l. 11].

A court trial on the issue of whether there was a mistake was held on March 5 and 6, 2013. On May 10, 2013, the district court entered its *Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Directions for Entry of Judgment* [R. Vol. III, p. 537] finding that a mutual mistake had occurred between the parties and that the Browns were entitled to a judgment reforming the Warranty Deed to exclude the ground water rights in dispute. The district court entered its *Judgment* on May 23, 2013. Greenheart filed a timely Notice of Appeal to the Supreme Court of Idaho on June 27, 2013. [R. Vol. III, p. 602].

On May 31, 2013, Plaintiffs filed an application for Costs and Attorneys' Fees along with supporting affidavit. [R. Vol. III, pp. 568-594]. On June 13, 2013, Greenheart filed her *Memorandum in Opposition to Plaintiffs' Application for Costs and Attorneys' Fees.* [R. Vol. III, p. 597]. Oral argument on the Browns' request for attorney's fees and costs was held on August 5, 2013. [R. Vol. III, p. 609]. On August 7, 2013, the court issued its *Memorandum Decision and Order Granting in Part Plaintiff's Fees and Costs.* [R. Vol. III, p. 609]. The district court awarded the Browns their attorney's fees under Idaho Code Section 12-120(3) finding that the sale between the parties was a "commercial transaction."

#### ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

- A. Did the district court err in permitting the Browns to try the issue of mutual mistake?
- B. Did the district court err in holding that the Browns' claims were not barred by the applicable statute of limitations?
- C. Did the district court err in not finding that the Browns were negligent and therefore precluded from relying on mistake?
- D. Did the district court err in holding that the Purchase and Sale Agreement was ambiguous?
- E. Did the district court err in finding that this case involved a 'commercial transaction' and therefore attorney fees were awardable under Idaho Code Section 12-120(3)?
- F. Is Greenheart entitled to an award of attorney fees on appeal?

/// /// ///

#### **ARGUMENT**

#### I. Standard of Review.

APPELLANT'S BRIEF - 8

When questions of law are presented, the appellate court is not bound by the findings of the trial court, but is free to draw its own conclusions from the evidence presented. *Automobile Club Ins. Co. v. Jackson*, 124 Idaho 874, 876, 865 P.2d 965, 967 (1993).

The date when a cause of action accrues may be a question of fact or law. *C&G*, *Inc. v. Canyon Highway Dist. No. 4*, 139 Idaho 140, 143, 75 P.3d 194, 197 (2003). Therefore where issues on appeal involve questions of law to the application of undisputed facts, an appellate court exercises fee review. *Attorney General of Canada on Behalf of Her Majesty The Queen in Right of Canada v. Tysowski*, 118 Idaho 737, 739, 800 P.2d 133, 135 (Ct. App. 1990).

### II. The District Court Erred In Permitting The Browns To Try The Issue of Mutual Mistake.

In denying the parties cross-motions for summary judgment, the district court determined that material issues of fact existed as to whether "there was a mutual mistake in the deed and whether the court may consider extrinsic evidence for that purpose." *See Order On Cross Motions For Summary Judgment* p. 10; [R. Vol. II, p. 375]. The district court erred in holding that the Browns' Complaint requested equitable relief under a theory of 'mutual mistake' and therefore should not have forced Greenheart to go to trial on that issue because (1) Browns did not plead mistake in their Complaint; (2) assuming mistake was pled, it was not pled with particularity and therefore did not comply with I.R.C.P. 9(b); and (3) Greenheart did not litigate the issue of mutual mistake during the parties' cross motions for summary judgment through express consent or by implication.

#### a. The Browns' Complaint Did Not Plead Mutual Mistake.

The Browns never intended to rely on the legal theory of mutual mistake in their case until the district court raised the issue for the first time in its *Order On Cross Motions For Summary Judgment*. See. [R. Vol. II, p. 366]. The Complaint as well as Browns' written and oral arguments on the parties cross motions for summary judgment and later the Browns' attempt

to amend the Complaint [R. Vo. II, pp. 408-422] all demonstrate that the Browns did not rely on mutual mistake. Rather, the Browns sought a declaratory ruling to have the Purchase and Sale Agreement and Warranty Deed interpreted that the adjudicated ground water rights were never transferred to Greenheart in the first place when those respective documents were signed. That requested remedy is very specific and not related to any remedy that could be granted under a theory of mutual mistake.

This Court has recognized that "[t]he liberal construction of a complaint in notice pleading is to avoid dismissal of an inartfully drawn complaint that gives adequate notice of the claims sought to be asserted." *AMCO Ins. Co. v. Tri-Spur Inv. Co.*, 140 Idaho 733, 738-739, 101 P.3d 226, 231 – 232 (2004). However, the *AMCO* court also held that when the complaint is specifically drafted to include specific claims and remedies, the party that drafted the complaint is not allowed to assert more claims that were excluded from the complaint. The *AMCO* court held "... this principle is not applicable where there is a clearly drawn complaint that sets forth very specific claims and remedies." *Id*.

The AMCO case involved a declaratory action filed by an insurance company seeking a declaration from the court that the insurance policy's exclusion for bodily injury arising out of civil rights violations barred business liability coverage for claims against the insured for violation of Title VII. Id. at 140 Idaho 227-228. The insured argued that although the claims and relief in the complaint were based on Title VII, the facts also revealed potential causes of action for assault, battery, false imprisonment, slander and negligent infliction of emotional distress. Id. at 140 Idaho 231. The AMCO court disagreed with the insured's argument holding that the complaint was very specific that it only sought claims and remedies arising under Title VII. Id. at 140 Idaho 232.

In this case, the Complaint did not plead mutual mistake and in fact the Complaint pled legal theories to the exclusion of mutual mistake. The Complaint is completely devoid of the word 'mistake' or any words synonymous with mistake. Moreover, the Complaint does not APPELLANT'S BRIEF - 9

request a remedy such as rescission or reformation, which are generally the remedies for mutual mistake. See e.g. O'Connor v. Harger Const., Inc., 145 Idaho 904, 909, 188 P.3d 846, 851 (2008) (mutual mistake permits a party to rescind a contract); Bailey v. Ewing, 105 Idaho 636, 641, 671 P.2d 1099, 1104 (Ct. App. 1983) (instrument can be reformed to reflect the intentions of the parties due to mutual mistake). Instead, the Complaint lays out the Browns' legal stance that the ground water never left the Browns' possession and therefore the appurtenance clause in the Warranty Deed only created a rebuttable presumption that water could be transferred:

The facts and circumstances of the transaction by which Defendant purchased the property from Plaintiffs, and the parties' subsequent conduct thereafter, establish that any presumption that any portion of the Water Rights passed to Defendant Greenheart under the general appurtenancy clause of the Warranty Deed is conclusively rebutted by facts clearly demonstrating that it was known to both parties that no portion of the Water Rights were intended to be conveyed, and compel an interpretation of the purchase agreement and Warranty Deed to the effect that the Greenheart Property was purchased and conveyed without water rights, but as dry land.

Complaint ¶ 27; [R. Vol. II, p. 17].

In the very next paragraph of the Complaint the Browns request very specific relief in the form of a "judgment decreeing and declaring that the Purchase and Sale Agreement did not provide for conveyance of any portion of the Water Rights, and that no portion of the Water Rights was in fact conveyed by the Warranty Deed to Defendant Greenheart as an appurtenance to the Greenheart Property..." Complaint ¶ 28(a); [R. Vol. II, p. 17]. There is no request for reformation of the deed or rescission of the contract.

In fact, the oral and written arguments of the Browns during the parties' cross motions for summary judgment clearly demonstrate that the Browns never intended to raise the legal theory of mutual mistake. For example, in their memorandum in support of summary judgment, the Browns' sole legal argument why the district court should consider 'extrinsic evidence' to explain the Warranty Deed was not due to the parties making a mistake. Instead, the Browns argued that the term "appurtenances" is ambiguous with respect to whether water rights are to be necessarily included in a conveyance of land and therefore the result is to automatically consider

extrinsic evidence. See. Memorandum In Support of Motion For Summary Judgment, p. 13; [R. Vol. I, p. 136].

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