UIdaho Law Digital Commons @ UIdaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

1-9-2014

Brown v. Greenheart Respondent's Brief Dckt. 41189

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

With respect to the underlying issue of mutual mistake in this case, mutual mistake is a question of fact which must be proven by clear and convincing evidence, and the trial court's findings will not be overturned unless clearly erroneous. *Cline v. Hoyle & Assoc., Inc.*, 108 Idaho 162, 164, 697 P.2d 1176, 1178 (1985).

II. GREENHEART HAS NOT APPEALED THE JUDGMENT ON COUNT TWO OF THE BROWNS' COMPLAINT.

Greenheart has not appealed the District Court's decision that the Browns are entitled to equitable relief on Count Two of their Complaint – "Quiet Title/Declaratory Judgment-Estoppel." Nor has Greenheart included this issue in her *Opening Brief* or submitted argument or authority for overturning the District Court's disposition of Count Two in the Browns' favor. R. Vol. III, p. 603—Notice of Appeal; Appellant's *Opening Brief* at 7.

Unless Greenheart prevails on her statute of limitations defense as it may apply to Count Two, this Court need not reach the issue of whether the District Court erred in allowing the case to proceed on the issue of mutual mistake. *See Anderson v. Professional Escrow Services, Inc.*, 141 Idaho 743, 118 P.3d 75 (2005); *Campbell v. Kvamme*, Idaho Supreme Court Dkt. No. 39650 at *5 (Dec. 31, 2013) ("Where a trial court grants summary judgment on two independent grounds and the appellant challenges only one of those grounds on appeal, the judgment must be affirmed. We will not even consider the ground that is challenged on appeal."); *Kugler v. Drown*, 119 Idaho 687, 691, 809 P.2d 1166, 1170 (Ct.App.1991) (appellant's failure to include issue in the statement of issues required by I.A.R. 35(a)(4) eliminates consideration of the issue on appeal); *Everhart v. Washington County Rd. and Bridge Dep't*, 130 Idaho 273, 274, 939 P.2d 849, 850 (1997) (issue not raised in statement of issues or argued in briefing with citations to authority will not be considered on appeal).

In Count Two of their Complaint, the Browns incorporated all prior allegations, including facts summarized above concerning 1) the circumstances in which the parties entered into their negotiations and their PSA; 2) the nature of the Greenheart Property; 3) the execution and delivery of the PSA; 4) the disclosures and the warranty deed; and 5) the parties' post-closing conduct up until February 17, 2012 when Greenheart first asserted an interest in the Water Rights. At trial, testimony and exhibits were introduced that substantiated these allegations. The District Court entered findings and concluded the evidence established that Greenheart should be precluded by quasi-estoppel and waiver from asserting ownership of the Water Rights. R. Vol., II, p. 533.

Specifically, the District Court concluded that Greenheart is: 1) now taking a different position in claiming ownership of the water rights than she did when she disclaimed any interest in them in 2007 and again in 2009; 2) gained a substantial tax advantage over the years in doing so; and 3) caused a disadvantage to the Browns, who incurred legal expenses and took other efforts to sell the Water Rights in the belief there was no adverse claim to them, thereby inducing the Browns to change positions. The District Court also concluded that it would be unconscionable to allow Greenheart to now maintain that the general appurtenances clause in the warranty deed had the effect of conveying water rights that Greenheart consistently asserted were not conveyed to her. Allowing Greenheart to do so would give her a windfall that was never intended by the parties "*at the time of their contract*." R. Vol. II, p. 533-34 (emphasis added).

Greenheart has not challenged these findings and conclusions. As such, unless Count Two of the Brown's Complaint was time-barred, this Court should affirm the *Final Judgment* on the basis of quasi-estoppel and waiver, and need not reach the issue of whether the District Court erred in allowing the case to go to trial on the issue of mutual mistake.

III. THE BROWNS' QUIET TITLE ACTION WAS NOT TIME-BARRED.

Greenheart argues that the Browns' quiet title action is barred by the four-year statute of limitations of Idaho Code § 5-224 (catch-all statute) and the three year statute of limitations of Idaho Code § 5-218 (fraud or mistake). Under either of these statutes, the clock begins to run when the cause of action accrues. Under either statute, the Browns' quiet title action accrued in February of 2012. Accordingly, the Browns' Complaint was not barred.

A. The Brown's quiet title action accrued when Greenheart filed a Claim to the Water Rights with IDWR.

The Brown's action is to quiet title, and was brought pursuant to Idaho Code § 6-401, *et. seq.*, R. Vol. I, p. 12. I.C. § 6-401 provides that "[a]n action may be brought by any person against another who claims an estate or interest in real or personal property adverse to him, for

the purpose of determining such adverse claim³ Applying the adverse claim standard of this statute, the District Court correctly held that the Browns' cause of action accrued, and the applicable statute of limitations began to run, on February 17, 2012 when Greenheart first claimed an interest in the Water Rights adverse to the Browns by filing a Notice of Claim of Ownership with IDWR. R. Vol. I, pp. 371-72.

The District Court found that it was not the Browns' intent to convey the property with water rights. Rather, Greenheart's intent was to purchase "dry" land. R. Vol. III, p. 551. After closing, Greenheart represented to Elmore County and the Browns that she knew she purchased the Greenheart Property as "dry" land *without* water rights.

Specifically, she represented to the Elmore County Board of Equalization that "at the time of the purchase, [she] also was very aware that the parcel is dry grazing only due to lack of an irrigation system and no water rights." Plaintiffs' Trial Exhibit 28. And she solicited Jay Brown's assistance in June of 2007 in representing to the County that the Greenheart Property had no water right, was not irrigated and would not be irrigated unless Greenheart purchased a water right for it. Plaintiffs' Exhibit 16. Two years later, Greenheart wrote to the Elmore County Assessor to reiterate "[a]gain, at the time of the purchase, I also was very aware that the parcel is dry grazing only <u>due to lack of an irrigation system and no water rights</u>." Plaintiffs' Exhibit 28 (emphasis added). Moreover, Greenheart represented in a Dry Land Grazing Lease she offered to the Browns that the Greenheart Property was "Category 5 Dry Grazing of 59.318

³ The omitted proviso to I.C. § 6-401 concerning adjudication of water rights in a general adjudication under Title 42, Chapter 14 does not apply to the instant case or Water Rights.

Acres" and leased to the Browns for "dry grazing" only. This Lease remained in effect until January 31, 2012.

Thus, during the five years following closing, Greenheart repeatedly, consistently, and affirmatively <u>disclaimed any</u> interest in the Water Rights. The first time Greenheart claimed any interest in the Water Rights was when she filed a February 17, 2012 Notice of Change of Ownership with IDWR, claiming ownership of a portion of the Water Rights by virtue of the January, 2007 warranty deed. The Browns brought their quiet title action seven weeks later on April 5, 2012, R. Vol. I, p. 11, well within the four-year limit of I.C. § 5-224. Because Greenheart's statute of limitations defense fails as to the Browns' quiet title action, this appeal should be dismissed and/or the Court should affirm the *Final Judgment*.

B. To the extent that their action is based on a mutual mistake in the warranty deed, the Browns brought their claim well within three years of their discovery of the facts constituting the mistake.

The District Court's analysis concerning when the Browns' quiet title action accrued (i.e, when Greenhearts first asserted an adverse claim to the Water Rights), is equally applicable to the Browns' cause of action stated in Count One of the Complaint. Greenheart argues that the three-year statute of limitations of Idaho Code § 5-218(4) should apply to Count One because that statute deals with claims based on fraud or mistake. I.C. § 5-218(4) contains the proviso that in the case of fraud or mistake the cause of action "shall not have accrued until the discovery by the aggrieved party, of the facts constituting the fraud or mistake."

This Court has held that where discovery of a cause of action commences the statute of limitations, the date of discovery is a fact question for the trier of fact, unless there is no evidence

creating a question of fact. *McCoy v. Lyons*, 120 Idaho 765, 820 P.2d 360 (1991); *see also Kawai Farms, Inc. v. Longstreet*, 121 Idaho 610, 826 P.2d 1322 (1992) (ordinarily what constitutes the exercise of reasonable diligence to discover fraud so as to affect the time when the statute of limitations begins to run is a question of fact).

Greenheart argues that the Browns' cause of action accrued the moment the warranty deed was executed by the Browns—in other words, the very act constituting the mistake is sufficient notice of the mistake that would be apparent to any person exercising reasonable diligence.⁴ Appellant's *Opening Brief* at 21.

The District Court addressed this argument, and correctly recognized that the issue of due diligence as it relates to when a party should have known of the alleged mistake in a deed is a question of fact that has little, if any, relation to date on which the deed was recorded. R. Vol. III, p. 557-58. The Court applied *Aiken v. Gill*, 108 Idaho 900, 702 P.2d 1360 (1985) to the circumstances concerning the Brown's diligence in discovering the mistake in using the title company's form deed.

In *Aiken*, this Court held that examination of the circumstances concerning the grantor's due diligence in discovering the mistake in the deed was a question of fact for the trial court on remand. *Id.*, 108 Idaho 901, 702 P.2d 1361. For guidance on remand, the Court also noted that

⁴ The irony of this argument seems to be lost on Greenheart, who holds four advanced degrees (including a masters in teaching and a doctorate in education), owns a home in Japan, two properties in Alaska, two properties in Nevada and two properties in Idaho, who declined to inspect the property before making an offer, and is capable of drafting her own dry grazing lease. R. Vol. III, pp. 540, 541-542,548.

the recordation of the 1976-78 deeds has no bearing on the question of due diligence. When deeds are recorded, constructive knowledge of their contents is imparted to "subsequent purchasers or encumbrancers." I.C. 55-811. In any event, such constructive knowledge can be no greater than the seller's actual knowledge when they signed and delivered the deeds.

Id.

Here, The District Court concluded that "at the time of the Purchase and Sale Agreement, the Browns intended to sell 80 [sic] acres of land without its proportionate appurtenant Water Rights and Ms. Greenheart intended to purchase 80 [sic] acres of 'dry' land without appurtenant Water Rights other than an existing well on the property or the ability to drill a well." R. Vol. III, p. 545. The District Court further found that nothing in the PSA or warranty deed would reasonably put the Browns or *Greenheart* on notice that use of the general appurtenancy clause would convey water rights that neither party intended would be conveyed. R. Vol. III, p. 556. Inasmuch as they each relied on a licensed realtor in the purchase and sale, and on the title company in the preparation of the deed, neither party could be deemed negligent, to have failed to exercise due diligence or to have "attach[ed] the weighty legal significance to three words 'with their appurtenances' that these words actually carry." R. Vol. III, pp. 556-57.

Consequently, the District Court found that in executing the warranty deed, the Browns had no actual knowledge that it mistakenly conveyed portions of the Water Rights, and its execution was not a mistake that could have then been discovered with the exercise of due diligence so as to have started the three year statute of limitations under I.C. § 5-218(4). R. Vol. III, p. 557-58. The District Court found that "[i]n the evidence before the court, the discovery of

the facts constituting the mistake would have been during Mr. Brown's conversation with [an attorney] about the legal effect of the 'with their appurtenances' language in the deed <u>in 2012</u>." R. Vol. III, p. 559 (emphasis added).

Based on the evidence, and applying the correct accrual standard under I.C. § 6-401, I.C. § 5-218 or I.C. § 5-224, the District Court held the statute of limitations began to run in early to mid-February of 2012, which was approximately two months before this action was filed. For the foregoing reasons, the District Court's judgment quieting title to the Water Rights in the Browns must be affirmed.

IV. THE DISTRICT COURT'S DETERMINATION THAT THE BROWNS WERE NOT NEGLIGENT SHOULD BE AFFIRMED.

For the first time in this case, Greenheart argues that Browns were barred from relying on mistake to reform the deed because they were negligent. *Opening Brief* at 25. This argument must fail because Greenheart never raised this issue below, and in any event, she has not demonstrated that the District Court's finding that the Browns were not negligent is clearly erroneous.

A. Greenheart's argument that the Browns were barred from relying on mistake to reform the deed was not raised below.

Greenheart argues that the District Court should have found that the Browns' claim and relief based on mistake was barred because the Browns were negligent in not discovering the mistake. This is the first time Greenheart has raised this issue. The only instance below where Greenheart ever used the word "negligence" was in a requested finding of fact 27. *Defendant's First Amended Proposed Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law,* R. Vol. II, p. 502 ("Jay and Christine Brown were negligent in reviewing the Warranty Deed"). Nowhere else in Greenheart's proposed findings and conclusion or elsewhere in the record does she raise the issue of the Browns' negligence or what legal effect she believed the Court should give to the proposed negligence finding. Rather, in the "Relief" section of her *Proposed Findings and Conclusions* Greenheart states only the following:

Without waiving its objections raised in its motion in limine and motion for reconsideration that mistake was not plead, Defendant Greenheart asks this Court to conclude that the Brown's [sic] lawsuit on the issue of mutual mistake is <u>untimely</u> and therefore enter an order dismissing the lawsuit. If this matter is not dismissed on statute of limitations grounds, Greenheart asks this Court to enter an order finding that the Browns <u>have</u> <u>not proven the elements</u> of mutual mistake or the application of any equitable theories of promissory and quasi estoppel.

R. Vol. II, p. 509 (emphasis added). In other words, Greenheart maintained only that the Browns' claims were time-barred by statutes of limitations or were not proven by the evidence. Greenheart never asserted that the ability to litigate the issue of mistake was precluded outright because the Browns were negligent. Nevertheless, responding to the proposed finding of fact, the District Court held that the issue before the court with respect to Greenheart's statute of limitations defense was not one of negligence "but rather whether the Browns could have discovered the mistake in the exercise of due diligence." R. Vol. III, p. 557.

To properly raise an issue on appeal, there must be either an adverse ruling by the court below or the issue must have been raised in the court below. An issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal. *Bank of Commerce v. Jefferson Enterprises, LLC*, 154 Idaho 824, 303 P.3d 183 (2013). The District Court's refusal to adopt the proposed negligence finding should not be

considered an "adverse ruling" as contemplated by *Bank of Commerce*, however. Greenheart never asked the District Court to rule that negligence barred the Browns from litigating the issue of mutual mistake. Greenheart also never asked the District Court to rule that negligence had any effect on the litigation—only that the Court rule the Browns' claims were untimely and unproven. Had Greenheart done so, the District Court (and the Browns) would have had an opportunity to address the issue then, which would in turn provide some basis for review on appeal.

Because the issue was not raised below, Greenheart should not be able to litigate here the issue of "whether the Browns' negligence barred them from relying on mistake to reform the Warranty Deed at all." As to the issue of timeliness, the District Court correctly perceived that the issue presented went to the question of when the mistake could have been discovered in the context of the Browns' due diligence. R. Vol. III, p. 557.

B. Greenheart has not shown that the District Court's determination that the Browns were not negligent is clearly erroneous.

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